IN THE

1 1

. **#**

4.

1

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 64,728

F D L VIEWS

MAR 30 1984

CLERK, SUPREME UNUNT

HENRY PERRY SIRECI, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, In and For Orange County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit 224 Datura Street/13th Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 837-2150; S/C 454-2150

MICHAEL A. MELLO Assistant Public Defender

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

No. 64,728

HENRY PERRY SIRECI, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Justice Division of the Circuit Court of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, In and For Orange County, Florida. In the Brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this cause:

- "V" Record on Appeal of Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence Pursuant to Rule 3.850;
- "R" Record on Direct Appeal to this Court;
- "S" Transcript of Advisory Sentencing Proceeding;
- "T" Transcript of the Trial on Guilt/Innocence;
- "C" Transcript of Hearing on Motion for Continuance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Henry Sireci was convicted of murder and sentenced to death for the killing of Howard Poteet. The facts of the case and the evidence presented at trial are set out in this Court's opinion on direct appeal affirming Appellant's conviction and sentence. <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 964, 966-67 (Fla. 1981).

On direct appeal to this Court in 1981, Appellant argued that Florida's death penalty statute on its face violated <u>Lockett</u> <u>v. Ohio</u>, 438 U.S. 586 (1978) and that the trial court erred in denying a continuance. Both claims were based solely on information and evidence available in the trial record. This Court denied both claims, along with others raised by Appellant. 399 So.2d at 968-69, 972. The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Sireci v. Florida</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 102 S.Ct. 2257 (1982).

Appellant filed the present claim for postconviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 on September 8, 1982, before the Honorable Judge Joseph Baker. Judge Baker held an evidentiary hearing. At the hearing, Appellant's trial counsel testified that, as Judge Baker phrased it in his subsequent order, "at the time of the hearing on the sentencing of the defendant, [trial counsel] was familiar with the law of the state, and he felt he was legally limited to proof of mitigating factors listed in [the statute]. Counsel testified that because of his then understanding of the law of Florida, [he] did not investigate, develop, or proffer evidence of mitigating factors other than those listed" in the statute (V. 865-66). Appellant

-1-

introduced thirteen affidavits from family members, friends, co-workers, employers and other people who know Appellant well, showing what counsel would have found had he undertaken such an investigation.

Further, trial counsel testified about his inability effectively to cross-examine the state's "surprise witness," Donald Holtzinger. <u>See</u> 399 So.2d at 968-69. Because the trial court denied a motion for continuance, trial counsel testified, he was unable to impeach Holtzinger's testimony. At the hearing below, Appellant developed evidence that Holtzinger had reason to believe he would benefit at his own sentencing on one of his felony convictions if he were to testify against Appellant.

Also, trial counsel testified about a comment on silence that occurred during Appellant's trial. This Court on direct appeal held the issue foreclosed because counsel failed to object at trial. <u>See</u> Appendix D. When asked why he did not object, trial counsel said he "can't even recall with certainty hearing the answer or the question" (V 40).

Finally, Appellant asserted in the court below that the death penalty in Florida is being administered and applied in a manner that discriminates on the basis of race (V 105-25, 172-299, 301-06, 322-24, 542-47, 630-32, 659-722). He moved for an evidentiary hearing and for the appointment of experts, both of which were denied. Nevertheless, Appellant proffered statistical analyses of Florida's system of capital punishment, including an early draft of the study conducted by Stanford Professors Gross and Mauro.

-2-

Judge Baker carefully and extensively considered, though ultimately rejected, Appellant's claims (V 863-897). Timely rehearing was filed, to which Judge Baker responded in a detailed order denying rehearing (V 906-920). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR AND INDIVIDUALIZED CAPITAL SENTENCING DETERMINATION BY THE PRECLUSION OF EVIDENCE OF NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS AS A RESULT EITHER OF THE OPERATION OF STATE LAW OR THE DENIAL OF EFFEC-TIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Appellant was deprived of an individualized capital sentencing determination by his trial counsel's failure to investigate or present to the sentencer relevant mitigating evidence. The cause for this deprivation was either the state of the Florida law at the time of Appellant's trial, which appeared to limit the consideration of mitigating factors exclusively to those set out in the statute, or, alternatively, the fact that Appellant was denied the effective assistance of counsel. Regardless of the cause, it remains that Appellant did not receive what is mandated by the eighth amendment -- a reliable, individualized sentencing determination. Appellant proved his claim at an evidentiary hearing in the court below through the testimony of defense counsel and through affidavit testimony by members of Appellant's family and friends.

At the core of Appellant's claim is an unavoidable dilemma posed by Florida capital sentencing law at the time of his trial. The dilemma begins with <u>Cooper v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1122, 1139 (Fla. 1976), where this Court seemed to hold that mitigating

-3-

circumstances were limited to the list enumerated in the capital Two years later, in Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 statute. (1978), the United States Supreme Court said that mitigating circumstances cannot be limited to the statutory list. Appellant's trial occurred after Cooper but before Lockett. His trial counsel, relying on the law as stated in Cooper, did not investigate or present nonstatutory circumstances. The dilemma is that if counsel's reliance upon Cooper as limiting mitigating factors is deemed to be reasonable, then the Florida statute was unconstitutional as applied under Lockett; if, on the other hand, counsel's reliance upon Cooper were deemed unreasonable, then counsel was ineffective in failing to investigate and present the significant, existing nonstatutory mitigating evidence. Under either prong of the dilemma, Appellant was denied an individualized sentencing consideration, and under either prong Appellant has stated a claim for relief.

It is important to note why this issue is different from the <u>Lockett</u> challenge raised on direct appeal. On direct appeal, Appellant argued that <u>on its face</u> Florida's statute violated <u>Lockett</u> during the period between <u>Cooper</u> and <u>Songer</u>. That issue was properly raised on direct appeal, because resolution of such a facial challenge did not require development or examination of information or evidence outside of the original trial record. By contrast, the issue now raised challenges the <u>application</u> of the statute to Appellant's particular case. This sort of "as applied" attack is properly brought in a postconviction proceeding because, like a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, it requires exploration of facts outside the original trial record:

-4-

whether counsel in fact felt and acted limited by <u>Cooper</u>; what nonstatutory mitigating evidence was not investigated and why. Precisely these issues were addressed and developed at the evidentiary hearing held below. Appellant's claim is thus cognizable in a Rule 3.850 proceeding.

A. The Cooper/Lockett Prong of the Dilemma

Perhaps the most firmly settled and closely enforced eighth amendment mandate applicable to capital sentencing is that the process for determining the appropriate punishment be individualized. Today it is clear that this mandate means that there can be no restriction, either expressly by statute, Lockett v. Ohio, supra, or as applied in a particular case, Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104 (1982); Green v. Georgia, 442 U.S. 95 (1979), upon the consideration of relevant mitigating factors by judge or The settled nature of this mandate places its critical jury. importance beyond question for it is at the heart of that which is required of the capital sentencing process. See Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955, 960 n. 3 (11th Cir. 1983). See generally, Hertz and Weisberg, In Mitigation of the Penalty of Death: Lockett v. Ohio and the Capital Defendant's Right to Consideration of Mitigating Circumstances, 69 Cal. L. Rev. 317, 326, 332 (1981).

Appellant will show that the statute in effect at the time of his trial could reasonably be read, and <u>was</u> being reasonably read by judges and attorneys alike, as precluding nonstatutory mitigating circumstances in a manner identical to that considered in <u>Lockett</u>. He will then show that this potential for unconstitutional application <u>did</u> actualize in his case: his

-5-

counsel did in fact rely on <u>Cooper</u> and as a result substantial mitigating evidence was never investigated, developed or presented.

 The Florida Statute, Post-Cooper but Pre-Songer, was Capable of and was Reasonably Being Construed in a Manner Violative of Lockett

The issue presented requires examination of the history of Florida capital sentencing law. This history falls into three distinct periods: (1) from the enactment of the post-<u>Furman</u> statute until the decision in <u>Cooper v. State</u>, during which the Florida courts interpreted and applied the mitigating circumstances provision of the statute in a manner which was ambiguous; (2) from the <u>Cooper</u> decision in 1976 to the decision in <u>Songer v.</u> <u>State</u> in 1978, when the law appeared to limit the sentencer to the statutory list of mitigating circumstances (Appellant's trial occurred during this period); and (3) from the decision in <u>Songer</u> to the present, when the courts properly applied the mitigating circumstances provision in a nonexclusive manner, as required by <u>Lockett</u>.

The starting point is the statutory language itself. The modern Florida death penalty statute was enacted in 1972, in the wake of <u>Furman v. Georgia</u>. Three separate provisions of the statute appeared on their face to limit consideration of mitigating factors to only those expressly set out in the statute. Section 921.141(2), Florida Statutes (1975) directed that the jury consider:

-6-

(a) whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist as enumerated in subsection (6);

(b) whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist as enumerated in subsection (7), which outweigh the aggravating circumstances found to exist; and

(c) based on these considerations, whether defendant should be sentenced to life or death.

(emphasis added). The same direction was given to the judge in Section 921.141(3) to consider mitigating circumstances "as enumerated in subsection (7)" and to make written findings "based upon the circumstances in subsections (6) and (7)." Subsection 921.141(6) [referred to as above as subsection (7)], states that mitigating circumstances "shall be the following: [list of specific factors]." Accordingly, from a plain reading of the statute, it appears that consideration of mitigating factors by judge and jury was limited to only those specifically set out in the statute.

In the years following the statute's enactment, this Court indicated repeatedly that the mitigating circumstances provision was exclusive. At times the Court's construction was implicit in its decisions, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Alford v. State</u>, 307 So.2d 433, 444 (Fla. 1975), and at other times it was explicit, approving in one case the decision of a sentencing judge who considered only the mitigating circumstances "itemized" in the statute. <u>See Henry v.</u> <u>State</u>, 328 So.2d 430, 431-32 (Fla.), <u>cert denied</u>, 429 U.S. 951 (1976).

In <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), for example, the landmark decision interpreting the statute, the Court's emphasis was on the consideration of statutory mitigating factors. The

-7-

opinion refers frequently to "the" mitigating circumstances and includes in such references only the statutorily enumerated circumstances and specifically refers to "the mitigating circumstances provided in <u>Fla.Stat.</u> 921.141 (7), F.S.A." in describing the weighing process. <u>Id.</u> at 9. In dissent Justice Ervin's opinion also specifically acknowledges the limitation on consideration of mitigating circumstances contained in the statute. Id. at 17.

In 1976, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Proffitt v.</u> <u>Florida</u>, 428 U.S. 242 (1976), examined the facial validity of the Florida statute and concluded that it satisfied eighth amendment requirements by guiding the discretion of the sentencing authorities through its provisions for balancing aggravating and mitigating circumstances. In the course of reviewing the statute, the Court suggested that the mitigating circumstances provision of the statute was open-ended, 428 U.S. at 250 n. 8, curiously ignoring state case law to the contrary. It may have been that the Supreme Court was sending the Florida courts a message: For your statute to be constitutional, it <u>must</u> be open-ended.

But one week after <u>Proffitt</u> was announced this Court, in <u>Cooper v. State</u>, seemed to declare that the Florida statute did indeed restrict mitigating factors to those set forth in the statute. 336 So.2d 1133, 1139 & n. 7 (Fla. 1976), <u>cert denied</u> 431 U.S. 925 (1977). Cooper had proffered among other factors his stable employment history as a mitigating circumstance relevant to his character. The sentencing judge, however, prohibited the introduction of such testimony into evidence at

-8-

the penalty trial. This Court held the trial judge properly precluded the presentation and consideration of the proffered mitigating evidence. The opinion emphasized that the "sole issue" in a penalty trial under the statute is "to examine in each case the itemized aggravating and mitigating circumstances." Id. at 1139 (emphasis added). The Court reasoned that allowing nonstatutory mitigating factors to be presented and considered would make the statute unconstitutional, as it would "threaten[] the proceeding with the undisciplined discretion condemned in Furman." Id. at n. 7 (emphasis in original). The Court underscored that these were words of "mandatory limitation", id., thus leaving no doubt as to its interpretation of the statute. With regard to the specific nonstatutory mitigating factor before the Court, it commented that "employment is not a guarantee that one will be law-abiding", and then expressed its specific holding:

In any event, the Legislature chose to list the mitigating circumstances which it judged to be reliable for determining the appropriateness of a death penalty ... and we are not free to expand that list.

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added) A plain and fair reading of the opinion in <u>Cooper</u> was thus that consideration and presentation of mitigating factors was strictly limited to only those specifically set out in the statute.

In the two years following the <u>Cooper</u> decision, this Court adhered to its suggestion of the mitigating circumstances provision as exclusive. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 948, 951 & n.6 (Fla. 1977); <u>Barclay v. State</u>, 343 So.2d 1266, 1270-71 (Fla. 1977). More importantly, <u>Cooper</u> was the law that

-9-

guided the various actors in Appellant's case, particularly his defense counsel. It was not until almost two years later that the clarifying decision in Lockett was announced.

Lockett held that a death penalty scheme must not prevent the sentencer from "considering any aspect of the defendant's character and record or any circumstances of his offense as an independent mitigating factor", 438 U.S. at 607, even if such factor not be enumerated in the statutory list. In December, 1978, this Court handed down Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696, 700 (Fla. 1978) (opinion on rehearing). Songer had argued that the Court's earlier decision in Cooper had stated explicitly that mitigating circumstances were limited to the factors enumerated in the statute and thus that the statute violated Lockett. However, this Court explained that its earlier decision in Cooper should not be read as limiting mitigating circumstances but merely as affirming the trial judge's customary right to exclude irrelevant evidence. Id. The Court then explicitly construed the mitigating circumstances provision as nonexclusive, and explained that the language of the statute reflected a legislative intent¹ to permit the sentencer to consider any mitigating circumstances proffered by the defendant.²

-10-

Several months after the <u>Songer</u> decision, the Florida Legislature amended the statute and deleted the language upon which the <u>Cooper</u> court had relied in concluding that mitigating circumstances wece restricted to the factors identified in the statute. 1979 Fla. Law ch. 79-353. The <u>Cooper</u> Court had based its conclusions about legislative intent on the statutory language specifying that the sentencer must consider mitigating circumstances "as enumerated." Accordingly, the amendments demonstrated a <u>then new</u> legislative intent to provide that mitigating circumstances were not restricted to the statutory factors.

² The <u>Songer</u> Court based its conclusions about the mitigating circumstances standard employed in earlier cases on a review of

It is important to examine what <u>Songer</u> did <u>not</u> hold. <u>Songer</u> concluded only that it was reasonable to read <u>Cooper</u> as nonexclusive; <u>Songer</u> did not hold that it was <u>unreasonable</u> to read <u>Cooper</u> any other way, i.e., as being exclusive. This Court has recognized the ambiguity in the Florida statute and the widespread belief among lawyers and judges that the mitigating circumstances were limited to those in the statute. <u>Perry v.</u> <u>State</u>, 395 So.2d 170, 174 (Fla. 1981); <u>Jacobs v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 713, 718 (Fla. 1981). In <u>Perry</u> and <u>Jacobs</u>, death sentences were vacated because the sentencing judge either refused to admit evidence of a nonstatutory mitigating character or refused to consider in mitigation evidence that went to a nonstatutory

seven of its earlier decisions. Citing these decisions, the Court explained that it had repeatedly approved a trial court's consideration of mitigating circumstances not included in the statutory list. 365 So.2d at 700. The cases cited in Songer, however, do not support the Court's conclusion; these cases provide no more guidance than did Cooper itself. See Hertz and Weisberg, 69 Cal. L. Rev. at 356-59. In each of the decisions cited in the Songer opinion, the mitigating circumstances that the trial judge and jury had considered were factors enumerated in the statute. The possibility of considering nonstatutory mitigating factors was never mentioned in six of the seven decisions cited in <u>Songer</u>. In the seventh, <u>Washington v. State</u>, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978) this Court rejected the defendant's claim that a nonstatutory factor had not been considered and noted that "while we do not foreclose consideration of such factors in mitigation in an appropriate case, we do not believe the appellant's actions are compelling here". Id. at 67. Thus, the Washington decision did not "approve ... a trial judge's consideration of circumstances in mitigation which are not included in the statutory list". Songer, 365 So.2d at 700. At most, the Washington decision reserved the question for a future time. The ambiguous cases cited in Songer must be compared to the very clear opinion in Cooper. Any fair reading of Cooper reveals that it construed the mitigating circumstances listed in the statute as exclusive. The language in the Cooper opinion -- "mandatory limitation", "we are not free to expand the list [of legislatively proscribed mitigating factors]" -- requires no speculation to understand its meaning.

factor. This Court noted in both cases that the trial judge had incorrectly interpreted <u>Cooper</u>. In those cases judges reasonably misread <u>Cooper</u>; in Appellant's case counsel misread <u>Cooper</u>. Likewise, in <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 533 1983), the Court held that counsel could not be "expected to predict the decision in <u>Lockett</u>." This is a recognition that the Florida statute could have been seen as limiting the consideration of mitigating circumstances prior to <u>Lockett</u>.

Similarly, the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit has twice observed that <u>Cooper</u> clearly held that the mitigating circumstances were limited to those in the statute. In <u>Proffitt v. Wainwright</u>, 685 F.2d 1227, 1238 n.19 (11th Cir. 1982) the court explicitly noted that <u>Cooper</u> held that mitigating circumstances were limited to those in the statute, and further noted that the seminal case concerning the Florida statute, <u>State v. Dixon</u>, also lent support to an interpretation that the mitigating circumstances were limited to those in the statute. <u>Id.</u> at 1248 n. 30. In <u>Ford v. Strickland</u>, 696 F.2d 804 (11th Cir. 1983) (en banc) the court again stated that <u>Cooper</u> specifically held that the mitigating circumstances were limited to those in the statute, and that the <u>Lockett</u> was "a direct reversal of this view...." Id. at 812.

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