IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HENRY PERRY SIRECI, Appellant,	SID J. WHITE APR 25 1984	D
v.	CASE NO. 64, PARK, SUPREME COU	R T ,
STATE OF FLORIDA,	Chief Deput Clerk	
Appellee.	<u>}</u>	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR AND INDIVIDUALIZED CAPITAL SENTENCING DETERMINATION BY THE PRECLUSION OF EVIDENCE OF NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING FACTORS

It should first be noted that on direct appeal to this Court, Sireci's counsel argued that presentation and consideration of mitigating evidence had been improperly limited and cited both Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586, 98 S. Ct. 2954, 57 L. Ed 2d 973 (1978), and Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925, 97 S. Ct. 2200, 53 L. Ed.2d 239 (1977). (V 466-473) The record conclusively demonstrates, therefore, that the limitation on mitigating evidence issue has been raised previously, has been fully considered, and has been found to be without merit. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); Sireci v. Florida, U.S. , 102 S. Ct. 2257 (1982). It is well-settled that a motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 cannot be utilized for a second appeal to consider issues that either were raised in the initial appeal or could have been raised in that appeal. Demps v. State, 416 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1982); Christopher v. State, 416 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1982); Foster v. State, 400 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1981); Sullivan v. State, 372 So.2d 938 (Fla. 1979); Spenkelink v. State, 350 So.2d 85 (Fla.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 960 (1977). It is now, and was below, the State's clear position that this issue was raised on the initial appeal and disposed of and warrants no further consideration. Moreover, the State would suggest that the Appel-lant's claim that the operation of law rendered his trial counsel ineffective, is a deprivation of due process claim scantily clothed as ineffective assistance of counsel. See Hitchcock v. State, 432 So.2d 42, 43 (Fla. 1983). The instant claim boils down to merely another Lockett challenge.

Aside from having previously argued the Lockett issue on direct appeal to this court, the issue is not cognizable under Rule 3.850 for the reason that Lockett did not change the law in Florida. As this court stated in Cooper v. State, 437 So.2d 1070, 1071-1072, (Fla. 1983):

. . . He contends that Lockett, decided subsequent to his trial and appeal, compels a reversal of his sentence. When his original appeal was taken to this Court, however, Florida's law was consistent with the pronouncement of Lockett. Songer v. State, 365 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 956, 99 S. Ct. 2185, 60 L. Ed 2d 1060 (1979), we held that the wording of the death penalty statute and the construction placed by this Court on that statute indicate unequivocally that the list of mitigating factors contained in this statute is not exhaustive. We referred to our earlier decisions in Buckrem v. State, 355 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1978); Washington v. State, 362 So.2d 658 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 441 U.S. 937, 99 S.Ct. 2063, 60 L. ed 2d 666 (1979); McCaskill v. State, 344 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1977); <u>Chambers v. State</u>, 339 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1976); <u>Meeks v. State</u>, 336 So.2d 1142 (Fla. 1976); Messer v. State, 330 So.2d 137 (Fla. 1976); and Halliwell v. State, 323 So.2d 557 (Fla. 1975), among others, to demonstrate this Court's constant view that all relevant circumstances may be considered in mitigation and that the statutory factors merely indicate principal factors to be

considered. We made clear that Lockett did not change the law in Florida since our law preexisting Lockett was consistent with the dictates of Lockett.

This Court concluded that since Lockett did not change the law of Florida, the dictates of Witt v. State, 387 So.2d 922 (Fla.), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1067, 101 S. Ct. 796, 66 L. Ed.2d 612 (1980) were not met to allow a change in decisional law to be considered in a capital case under Rule 3.850.

The Appellant claims that the issue now raised is different from the Lockett challenge raised on direct appeal in that on direct appeal the Appellant argued that on its face Florida's statute violated Lockett during the period between Cooper and Songer but the issue now raised challenges the application of the statute to the Appellant's particular case (Appellant's Brief p. 4). This court in Cooper also noted in passing:

. . .Post conviction proceedings are not intended to afford defendant a second appeal of matters that were or could have been raised on direct appeal, and a defendant cannot argue on appeal the relevancy of evidence on one ground and then by collateral attack again argue the relevancy of that evidence on a different ground.

437 So.2d at 1072.

It should be clear that any and all aspects of the Lockett issue should have been raised by the Appellant in his direct appeal and those issues not raised (as the Appellant

claims the instant issue was not raised) are thereby waived.

It is obvious the court below also considered the issue a rehash of <u>Lockett</u>, previously determined by this court. The court below noted:

...The conflict between Burger's opinion in Lockett and our Supreme Court's opinion in Cooper v. State is such a good argument that it did not go unnoticed at the time of the appeal. It was presented to the Supreme Courts of both Florida and the United States. Both of those supreme courts ruled on the Sireci case after the decision in Lockett v. Ohio. The issue was presented, presumably it was heard, considered and disposed of against Sireci by the very courts that decided Cooper and Lockett (V 877)

The lower court, however, permitted defense counsel to raise and argue the point mainly because the maximum penalty was involved and to avoid any possibility of arbitrariness in applying such penalty (V 877).

In its order denying motion for rehearing, the lower court was more expressive in its view that a Rule 3.850 motion is not the proper medium for review of such an issue. The court stated:

. . .The argument that the death sentencing procedure in Florida was unconstitutional as interpreted in Cooper v. State, is to argue that it was unconstitutional as to all defendants between the Cooper opinion in 1976 and Songer in 1978. If that is the case, it is a proper grounds for appeal and review in the supreme courts of this state and the United States. It has been argued unsuccessfully on appeal in this case. The argument is convoluted when it comes up in

the context of a motion for postconviction relief, such as this one
made for Mr. Sireci. It amounts to
arguing that the Florida Supreme
Court rendered defense attorney
Kirkland ineffective by inclarity
of its opinion and apparent ruling
in Cooper v. State. Rule 3.850
was never intended to provide a trial
judge with a secondary super-review
of the state supreme court's precision in announcing Florida's jurprudence (V 909)

The State would reiterate that this is an issue previously argued unsuccessfully. This Court noted in its decision on Sireci's direct appeal that in his findings of fact, the trial judge specifically recognized that "[A]11 evidence of mitigating circumstances may be considered by the judge or jury" and that the trial judge recognized his duty to assess what factual situations require the imposition of death by a process of reasoned judgment and not a mere counting process of "x" number of aggravating circumstances and "x" number of mitigating circumstances. Sireci 399 So.2d at 971-972. Moreover, in rejecting Sireci's argument on direct appeal that the judge expressly limited himself to statutory mitigating circumstances, this court pointed out that this was not a situation where the judge refused to hear certain evidence of mitigating circumstances, but that he properly found that evidence not to mitigate the sentencing conclusion. Sireci 399 So.2d at 972. In essence, this court has plainly laid to rest any and all aspects of the Lockett issue. If the issue is to be resurrected, then plainly, a lower court is not the proper forum.

The lower court also determined that "even if the effects of the <u>Cooper v. State</u> opinion could be pursued through a motion for postconviction relief alleging ineffectiveness of defense counsel, the argument fails." (V 909). The State would submit that this is a proper determination.

Assuming arguendo that it is proper to reach the issue of ineffectiveness of counsel, such ineffectiveness cannot be shown, even aside from the Lockett issue.

This simply is not a case where there was a total failure to present mitigating evidence. Defense counsel was able to put quite a bit of nonstatutory mitigating evidence before the jury for their consideration. Nor does Sireci identify any one of his enumerated items of fact, in this appeal, as a specific omission which amounted to a substantial deficiency which may have affected the outcome of the trial. See Francois v. State, 423 So.2d 357, 359-60 (Fla. 1982).

Even if defense counsel felt constrained by what he testified were his perceptions as to the limitations of the statute, such constraints obviously did not deter defense counsel. He testified that he went as far as he could go, and he doesn't recall being stopped or limited in any way (V 41). In fact he presented everything he had (V 43). Counsel had discussed Sireci's history with him and had available for presentation to the jury (which he did present without objection or restriction) Sireci's first-hand picture of his own life (V 64) Sireci then could have brought out any additional

factors about his own life that would have been mitigating.

Counsel was neither ineffective in this regard nor effectively deterred. This court adopted identical reasoning in rejecting a defendant's claims in this regard in <a href="https://doi.org/10.1031/https://doi.

Counsel testified that he discussed Sireci's history with him, put Sireci on the stand, and went as far as he could go in presenting mitigating circumstances (V 40-41; 64) Counsel didn't know what other witnesses he would have put on or if there were any other mitigating factors (V 42). Obviously after conferring with Sireci, what mitigating factors were known to counsel at that time were utilized. Counsel cannot be faulted for failing to call other witnesses to prove the existence of other mitigating circumstances, which at that time he evidently did not believe existed, especially in view of the fact that Sireci was put on the stand and testified himself. This very argument was rejected in Songer v. State, 419 So.2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, the choice by counsel to present or not present evidence in mitigation at the sentencing phase of trial is a tactical decision properly within counsel's discretion. Brown v. State, 439 So.2d 872, 875 (Fla. 1983). Counsel's choice to present mitigating evidence in the manner in which he did could be considered a strategic decision in most instances. See Foster v. Strickland, 707 F.2d 1339, 1344 (11th Cir. 1983). Counsel's statements

cannot be taken at face value because experience indicates that some people depreciate their own knowledge and ability as a trial tactic for persuasive reasons. More importantly, memories fade. While actions are often remembered, the underlying reasons therefore are often obscure. It is always possible to enlarge upon anything with the passage of time and benefit of hindsight and a list of nonstatutory mitigating factors is no exception.

With respect to effectiveness of counsel at a sentencing hearing, there is no requirement to call any set number of character witnesses which would merely be cumlative.

Raulerson v. State, 437 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 1983) The list of allegedly non-statutory mitigating circumstances presented by Sireci is basically cumulative of the information adduced at the sentencing hearing and is derived from defense depositions and was argued on direct appeal (V 456-458). In any event consideration of Sireci's proffered affidavits relects that even in the event such testimony was not considered, it would certainly not create a substantial likelihood that there was actual and substantial disadvantage to Sireci. See, Ford v.

Strickland, 696 F.2d 804, 813 (11th Cir. 1983).

It is obvious that counsel could not be expected to predict the decision in Lockett. Proffit v. Wainwright, 685 F.2d 1227, 1247-1248 (11th Cir. 1982); Muhammad v. State, 426 So.2d 533 (Fla. 1982); See Parker v. North Carolina, 397 U.S. 790, 90 S. Ct. 1458, 25 L.Ed. 2d 785 (1970). Ineffectiveness

cannot be predicated upon such a basis. Sireci, however, makes the argument an either/or situation claiming that he was deprived of the benefit of consideration of nonstatutory mitigating factors by either the state of the Florida law at the time or through ineffective assistance of counsel. To shut down both avenues of approach would seem somewhat unfair, however, Sireci ignores a very important fact and that is that whatever ball may have been dropped by trial counsel was picked up and carried to the finish line by appellate counsel. Lockett and Cooper were the subjects of a direct appeal. Relief was not warranted then nor is it warranted now.

II. A CLAIM THAT SYSTEMATIC DISCRIMINATION IN CAPITAL SENTENCING BASED UPON THE RACE OF THE VICTIM OR RACE OF THE DEFENDANT VIOLATES THE FOURTEENTH AND EIGHTH AMEND-MENT IS NOT COGNIZABLE ON APPLICATION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF AND IN THE INSTANT CASE IS UNFOUNDED AND NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY CREDIBLE EVIDENCE AS WELL.

The most recent pronouncement on this issue occurred by this Honorable Court in Griffin v. State, ___So.2d ___ (Florida 1984) [9 FLW 97 Case No. 65014, 65016; March 16, 1984]. Griffin took an appeal from a circuit court order denying his motion for post-conviction relief and this Court affirmed the trial court's denial of relief without an evidentiary hearing on all grounds other than ineffective assistance of counsel. One such ground involved a pattern of racial disparity in the prosecution, trial and sentencing of capital offenders in Florida. Without more, this decision seems to imply that evidentiary hearings are not mandated on such claims.

In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 692 (Fla. 1979), the petitioner raised the contention that the death penalty was unconstitutional as applied. At that time, in 1979, this court ruled that such a contention could properly be raised as a subject for consideration in a proceeding for post-conviction relief. It determined, in <u>Henry</u>, however, that the trial court's refusal to conduct a hearing or grant other relief on the issue of whether the death penalty was unconstitutionally applied because it was imposed in an arbitrary and capricious and irrational manner based on geography, poverty and other

arbitrary factors, was proper since the hypothetical, unsupported argument had been rejected as a legal basis for relief in prior cases and no preliminary factual basis for the contention was presented to the trial judge. Such a hypothetical, unsupported argument of counsel had been rejected as a legal basis for relief in Spinkellink v. Wainwright, 578 F.2d 582, 613-14 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied. 440 U.S. 976, 99 S.Ct. 1548, 59 L.Ed.2d 796 (1979). Subsequently, the United States Court of Appeals, Fifth Circuit passed on Henry's claim. Circuit determined that even if in the county in which the petitioner was sentenced, 16.3 percent of all capital indictments resulted in the death sentence and 41.7 percent of all convictions resulted in the death sentence, while the state wide percentages were 9.7 percent and 24.3 percent, respectively, there was no constitutional violation, as the petitioner alleged no racial, sexual or other inherently suspicious discrimination, and did not argue that the death penalty was somehow unsuited in his particular case, and did not raise a claim that the Florida Court failed properly to conduct a proportionality review, but claimed only that the Florida death penalty was arbitrary and capricious as applied. Henry v. Wainwright, 721 F.2d 990, 998 (5th Cir. 1983). Similarly, in the instant case, Sireci has made no showing as to why the death penalty was somehow unsuited in his particular case. Nor did he raise a claim that the Florida Court failed to properly conduct a proportionality review. The Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals

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